1
2 **IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA**

3 CANNON COCHRAN MANAGEMENT
4 SERVICES, INC. and LAS VEGAS
5 METROPOLITAN POLICE
6 DEPARTMENT

7 Appellants,

8 vs.

9 DAVID FIGUEROA,

10 Respondent.

Supreme Court Case No.: 78926
District Court Case No.: A-18-779790-J
Electronically Filed
Oct 30 2019 02:31 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

11 **APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF**

12
13 DANIEL L. SCHWARTZ, ESQ.
14 JOEL P. REEVES, ESQ.
15 LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD &
16 SMITH LLP
17 2300 W. Sahara Avenue, Suite 300, Box 28
18 Las Vegas, Nevada 89102-4375
19 *Attorneys for Appellants*
20 *Cannon Cochran Management Services,*
21 *Inc. And Las Vegas Metropolitan Police*

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a workers' compensation case. On March 7, 2015, the Respondent, DAVID FIGUEROA (hereinafter "Respondent") was involved in a motor vehicle accident while driving his personal motorcycle on his commute home from work. The evidence showed that Respondent's sergeant had given Respondent and a co-officer (Tyler McMeans) an "early out" for their shift and that Respondent's accident happened at 12:25 a.m., i.e. five (5) minutes before his shift technically ended at 12:30 a.m. At the time of the accident, Respondent was driving his personal vehicle, wearing civilian clothes, and although he was carrying service items with him such as his department issued radio, duty weapon, handcuffs, and badge, it was undisputed that Employer LAS VEGAS METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT (hereinafter "Employer") did not require that Respondent have any of those items with him.

Employer's workers' compensation Administrator CANNON COCHRAN MANAGEMENT SERVICES, INC. (hereinafter "Administrator") denied this claim as Respondent was not performing work at the time of his accident and his injuries were not related to his employment. Respondent appealed and transferred this matter directly to the Appeals Office.

1 On May 10, 2017, this matter came on for hearing before the Appeals
2 Officer. Respondent and Employer's Director of Risk Management, Jeff Roch
3 (hereinafter "Mr. Roch"), gave testimony.
4

5 On July 25, 2018, after hearing testimony and receiving written closing
6 arguments from both parties, the Appeals Officer affirmed claim denial, finding
7 that Respondent had not satisfied his burden to prove that he was injured within the
8 course and scope of his employment.
9

10 Respondent filed this Petition for Judicial Review, contesting the Appeals
11 Officer's July 25, 2018 Decision and Order.
12

13 On April 30, 2019, the District Court issued an Order Reversing the Appeals
14 Officer's Decision and Order. The Court determined that the Appeals Officer's
15 Decision was affected by error of law and contained clearly erroneous facts.
16

17 Appellants filed a Motion for Stay and Request for Reconsideration. The
18 District Court denied both stating that it had not misapprehended the Appeals
19 Officer's Order.
20

21 Appellants timely filed an appeal to this Honorable Court and sought a stay
22 of the District Court's Order, which this Court denied.
23

24 ...

25 ...

26 ...
27

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

II.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This case presents a challenge to the “law enforcement” exception to the going and coming rule that was adopted in Tighe v. Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Dept., 110 Nev. 632, 877 P.2d. 1032 (1994). Under that exception, this Court reasoned that “police officers are generally charged with a duty of law enforcement while traveling on public thoroughfares” and therefore injuries sustained on the commute “may be compensated.” (Id.) However, this Court also made it clear that the law enforcement exception “is not sufficiently broad and all-inclusive to justify the conclusion that all law enforcement officers are *always* excluded from the general rule that injuries sustained while traveling to or from work do not arise out of and in the course of employment.”(Emphasis in original)(Id.)

The Appeals Officer in this case properly concluded that Respondent had failed to prove that Employer had a necessary amount of control over him sufficient to establish that Respondent’s injuries were sustained due to the performance of job duties. Indeed, the Appeals Officer concluded that Respondent was discharging his duties as a police officer at the time of the injury. However, the District Court disagreed, finding in principle that Respondent was necessarily discharging his duties as a police officer as “there is no question the Appellant was

1 on the clock at the time of the accident and, therefore, under the control of
2 LVMPD unlike an off-duty officer returning home.”
3

4 The District Court erred in three respects. First, the ultimate determination in
5 this case was fact based and therefore within the purview of the Appeals Officer.
6 The Appeals Officer’s Decision was supported by substantial evidence and
7 therefore entitled to deference. Second, the District Court explicitly concluded that
8 being on the clock was sufficient to render this claim compensable, a position that
9 this Court has refuted numerous times over. Third, the import of the District
10 Court’s decision is that it would allow the “law enforcement” exception to swallow
11 entirety of the going and coming rule as, according to Respondent, he could always
12 be called back to work. If the fact that police officers can always be called into
13 service were dispositive, there would be no need for an “exception” to the rule as
14 police officers would always be covered by workers’ compensation for all injuries
15 ever sustained because they are technically always subject to being called into
16 service. That is not the purpose of workers’ compensation coverage. The District
17 Court’s Decision effectively transforms coverage for injuries sustained within the
18 course and scope of employment into coverage for injuries sustained by police
19 officers whenever and wherever they may go, no matter the activity. This is
20 contrary to the entire grand bargain of workers’ compensation. The District Court
21
22
23
24
25
26
27

1 erred and the Appeals Officer's Decision should be affirmed as being supported by
2 substantial evidence.

3
4 **II.**

5 **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES FOR REVIEW**

- 6
7 1. WHETHER AN APPEALS OFFICER IS ENTITLED TO DEFERENCE
8 IN DETERMINING WHETHER AN EMPLOYER EXERCISED A
9 SUFFICIENT AMOUNT OF CONTROL OVER AN EMPLOYEE TO
10 RENDER A CLAIM COMPENSABLE?
11
12 2. WHETHER AN INJURY SUSTAINED BY A POLICE OFFICER
13 WHILE ON HIS COMMUTE HOME IS COMPENSABLE UNDER
14 THE LAWS GOVERNING WORKERS' COMPENSATION
15 INSURANCE BY VIRTUE OF THE FACT THAT THE OFFICER
16 WAS STILL TECHNICALLY "ON THE CLOCK" FOR FIVE (5)
17 MORE MINUTES AT THE TIME OF HIS ACCIDENT?

18
19 **III.**

20 **FACTS NECESSARY TO UNDERSTAND ISSUE PRESENTED**

21 This is a workers' compensation case. The Respondent has multiple prior
22 industrial claims. In the instant matter, on March 7, 2015, according to the C-4
23 form, the Respondent was "driving" and was in an "MVA." (Appellants'
24 Appendix p. 12.)(hereinafter "APP p. ____")

25 The Employer completed its C-3 form upon receiving the C-4 form. (APP p.
26 13.)
27

1 An Injury Report was also completed on March 7, 2015. This report
2 indicated the Respondent was not in the normal course of his work or duties as a
3 police officer at the time of the incident. (APP p. 14.)
4

5 The Respondent was notified on April 9, 2015 that his claim was being
6 denied. (APP pp. 15-16.)
7

8 The Respondent appealed the determination letter of April 9, 2015,
9 regarding claim denial, to the Hearing Officer. (APP p. 17.) This appeal was
10 transferred directly to the Appeals Office. (APP p. 18.)
11

12 This matter came on for hearing before the Appeals Officer on May 10,
13 2017. Respondent and Employer's Director of Risk Management, Jeff Roch
14 (hereinafter "Mr. Roch"), gave testimony. (APP pp. 151-226)
15

16 On July 25, 2018, the Appeals Officer for Appeal Number 1511793-MM
17 issued the subject Decision and Order. The Appeals Officer noted that, on the day
18 of the subject incident, Respondent had been released early from his shift. The
19 Appeals Officer also noted that Respondent testified that his sergeant told him to
20 leave early to get some "seat time" on Respondent's personal motorcycle and that
21 Respondent was involved in the subject accident at 12:25 a.m. on his commute
22 home while he was still technically on the clock. The Appeals Officer also found
23 that Respondent's co-worker, Tyler McMeans, was also released early.
24
25
26
27

1 The Appeals Officer made three salient determinations based the above
2 referenced facts. The Appeals Officer concluded that Tyler McMeans had not been
3 released early for *Respondent* to get some seat time. Further, the Appeals Officer
4 also concluded that Respondent's commute home on the day in question was no
5 different than any other day. Finally, the Appeals Officer concluded that there was
6 no evidence that Respondent's sergeant explicitly required Respondent to "get
7 some seat time" as a condition of his employment. Further, it should also be noted
8 that the Appeals Officer included a discussion in the Decision as to how simply
9 being on the clock does not render this claim compensable. (APP pp. 227-239)

10
11
12
13 On August 21, 2018, Respondent filed the subject Petition for Judicial
14 Review. (APP p. 560-576)

15
16 On March 26, 2019, after the parties had presented to Department 18 for
17 hearing, the judge called a bench conference, informed that he had not read the
18 briefing, and the hearing was rescheduled for April 23, 2019. (APP p. 654)

19
20 On April 23, 2019, counsel for Appellant had a conflict and could not attend
21 the hearing that had been reschedule after the bench conference and sent an e-mail
22 to the law clerk for Department 18 and requested a continuance. The District Court
23 chose to set this matter for an in chambers decision. (APP p. 655)

24
25 On April 30, 2019, the District Court issued an Order Reversing the Appeals
26 Officer's Decision and Order. (APP pp. 656-663) That Court determined that the
27

1 Appeals Officer's Decision was affected by error of law and contained clearly
2 erroneous facts. The Court found four errors. First, the Court determined that the
3 Appeals Officer had omitted the fact that Respondent was still on the clock
4 because it was not discussed in the Findings of Fact section. Second, the Court also
5 determined that the Appeals Officer had omitted the fact that Respondent was
6 given an "early out" to "get some additional practice riding a motorcycle, as he
7 called it 'seat time.'"

10 Third, the Court concluded the Appeals Officer committed an error of fact in
11 finding that Respondent Employer received no benefit from Respondent being on
12 the road at the time of incident. The Court concluded that Respondent Employer
13 did receive a benefit because Respondent was on the clock, could have been called
14 back, was ordered to get some "seat time," and Respondent was still subject to
15 Employer's rules and regulations. Therefore, the Employer did receive a benefit.
16 Finally, the Court concluded that it was dispositive that Appellant "had his radio
17 and the general duty of law enforcement while traveling public thoroughfares
18 under Tighe."

22 Appellants filed a Motion for Stay and Request for Reconsideration. (APP
23 pp. 676-695) The District Court denied both stating that it had not misapprehended
24 the Appeals Officer's Order. (APP pp. 745-754)

1 Appellants timely filed an appeal to this Honorable Court and sought a stay
2 of the District Court's Order, which This Court denied.

3
4 **IV.**

5 **JURISDICTION**

6 Respondent timely appealed this Petition for Judicial Review of the Appeals
7 Officer's Decision dated July 25, 2018. NRS 233B.130. Said Petition was timely
8 filed with the District Court on August 21, 2018. On April 30, 2019, the Notice of
9 Entry of Order of the District Court's Decision and Order reversing the Appeals
10 Officer's Decision was filed. Appellants timely and properly filed an appeal of that
11 Decision and Order with this Honorable Court on May 30, 2019. See NRS
12 233B.150; NRAP Rule 3; NRAP Rule 4. This Court has jurisdiction over the
13 instant appeal.

14
15
16
17 **A. Routing Statement**

18 Under NRAP 17(b)(10), this case would be presumptively assigned to the
19 Court of Appeals as it concerns a Petition for Judicial Review of an administrative
20 agency's final decision. However, under NRAP 17(a)(11) and (12), the Supreme
21 Court would be justified in retaining jurisdiction over this case as this case deals
22 directly with the application of Tighe v. Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Dept., 110
23 Nev. 632, 877 P.2d. 1032 (1994). The District Court improperly extended the
24 decision in Tighe to effectively encompass all police officers at all times.
25
26
27

1 **B. Standard Of Review**

2 Judicial review of a final decision of an agency is governed by NRS
3
4 233B.135.

5 **NRS 233B.135 Judicial review: Manner of**
6 **conducting; burden of; standard for review.**

7 1. Judicial review of a final decision of an agency
8 must be:

- 9 (a) Conducted by the court without a jury; and
10 (b) Confined to the record.

11 In cases concerning alleged irregularities in procedure
12 before an agency that are not shown in the record, the
13 court may receive evidence concerning the irregularities.

14 2. The final decision of the agency shall be
15 deemed reasonable and lawful until reversed or set aside
16 in whole or in part by the court. The burden of proof is on
17 the party attacking or resisting the decision to show that
18 the final decision is invalid pursuant to subsection 3.

19 3. The court shall not substitute its judgment for
20 that of the agency as to the weight of evidence on a
21 question of fact. The court may remand or affirm the final
22 decision or set it aside in whole or in part if substantial
23 rights of the petitioner have been prejudiced because the
24 final decision of the agency is:

25 (a) In violation of constitutional or statutory
26 provisions;

27 (b) In excess of the statutory authority of the
agency;

(c) Made upon unlawful procedure;

(d) Affected by other error of law;

(e) Clearly erroneous in view of the reliable,
probative and substantial evidence on the whole record;
or

(f) Arbitrary or capricious or characterized by
abuse of discretion.

26 The standard of review is whether there is substantial evidence to support
27

1 the underlying decision. The reviewing court should limit its review of
2 administrative decisions to determine if they are based upon substantial evidence.
3
4 North Las Vegas v. Public Service Comm'n., 83 Nev. 278, 291, 429 P.2d 66
5 (1967); McCracken v. Fancy, 98 Nev. 30, 639 P.2d 552 (1982). Substantial
6 evidence is that quantity and quality of evidence which a reasonable man would
7
8 accept as adequate to support a conclusion. See, Maxwell v. SIIS, 109 Nev. 327,
9 331, 849 P.2d 267, 270 (1993); and Horne v. SIIS, 113 Nev. 532, 537, 936 P.2d
10 839 (1997).

11
12 When reviewing administrative court decisions, the Court has held that, on
13 factual determinations, the findings and ultimate decisions of an appeals officer are
14 not to be disturbed unless they are clearly erroneous or otherwise amount to an
15 abuse of discretion. Nevada Industrial Comm'n. v. Reese, 93 Nev. 115, 560 P.2d
16 1352 (1977). An administrative determination regarding a question of fact will not
17 be set aside unless it is against the manifest weight of the evidence. Nevada Indus.
18 Comm'n. v. Hildebrand, 100 Nev. 47, 51, 675 P.2d 401 (1984). A decision by an
19 appeals officer that is based upon the credibility of Respondent and other witnesses
20 is "not open to appellate review." Brocas v. Mirage Hotel & Casino, 109 Nev.
21 579, 585, 854 P.2d 862, 867 (1993).

22
23 In determining whether an administrative decision is supported by
24 substantial evidence, the methodology of the District Court is also well-defined.
25
26
27

1 First, for each issue appealed, the pertinent rule of law is identified. Thereafter, the
2 Record on Appeal is reviewed to determine whether the agency's decision on each
3 issue is supported by substantial factual evidence. State Dep't of Motor Vehicles
4 v. Torres, 105 Nev. 558, 560, 799 P.2d 959, 960-961 (1989).

6 If the decision of the administrative agency on the appealed issue is
7 supported by substantial factual evidence in the Record on Appeal, the District
8 Court must affirm the decision of the agency as to that issue. On the other hand, a
9 decision by an administrative agency that lacks support in the form of substantial
10 evidence is arbitrary or capricious and, thus, an abuse of discretion that warrants
11 reversal. NRS 233B.135(3); Titanium Metals Corp. v. Clark County, 99 Nev.
12 397, 399, 663 P.2d 355, 357 (1983).

15 Substantial evidence has been defined as that quantity and quality of
16 evidence which a reasonable man could accept as adequate to support a conclusion.
17 State Emp't Sec. Dep't v. Hilton Hotels Corp., 102 Nev. 606, 608 at n.1, 729 P.2d
18 497 (1986). Additionally, substantial evidence is not to be considered in isolation
19 from opposing evidence, but evidence that survives whatever in the record fairly
20 detracts from its weight. Universal Camera Corp. v. NLRB, 340 U.S. 474, 477,
21 488 (1951); Container Stevedoring Co. v. Director, OWCP, 935 F.2d 1544, 1546
22 (9th Cir. 1991). This latter point is clearly the significance of the requirement in
23
24
25
26
27

1 NRS 233B.135(3)(e) which states that the reviewing court consider the whole
2 record.

3
4 Further, this Court “[does] not give any deference to the district court
5 decision when reviewing an order regarding a petition for judicial review.” City of
6 Reno v. Bldg. & Constr. Trades Council of N. Nev., 127 Nev. 114, 119, 251 P.3d
7 718, 721 (2011)).

8
9 While the Court is not required to give deference to pure legal questions
10 determined by the agency, those conclusions of the agency which are “closely
11 related to the agency’s view of the facts, are entitled to deference, and will not be
12 disturbed if they are supported by substantial evidence.” Jones v. Rosner, 102
13 Nev. 215, 217, 719 P.2d 805, 806 (1986)..

14
15 In this case, the Appeals Officer’s decision is supported by substantial
16 evidence. As such, the District Court erred in reversing the same. This Honorable
17 Court retains review of the instant Petition for Judicial Review.

18
19
20 V.

21 **LEGAL ARGUMENT**

22 **A. Standard At The Appeals Officer Level**

23
24 It was the Respondent, not Appellants, who had the burden of proving
25 entitlement to any benefits under any accepted industrial insurance claim by a
26 preponderance of all the evidence. State Industrial Insurance System v. Hicks, 100
27

1 Nev. 567, 688 P.2d 324 (1984); Johnson v. State ex rel. Wyoming Worker's
2 Compensation Div., 798 P.2d 323 (1990); Hagler v. Micron Technology, Inc., 118
3 Idaho 596, 798 P.2d 55 (1990).

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