1 **IN THE SUPREME COURT, STATE OF NEVADA**
2 **Supreme Court No.: 78926**

3 CANNON COCHRAN MANAGEMENT
4 SERVICES, INC., LAS VEGAS
5 METROPOLITAN POLICE DEPARTMENT

Electronically Filed
Nov 27 2019 02:49 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

6 Appellants,
7 vs.

8 DAVID FIGUEROA,

9 Respondent.
10

11 ON APPEAL FROM THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT,
12 STATE OF NEVADA, CASE NUMBER A-18-779790-J

13 **RESPONDENT DAVID FIGUEROA'S**
14 **ANSWERING BRIEF**

15 **JASON D. MILLS, ESQ.**

16 Nevada Bar Number 7447

17 **JASON D. MILLS & ASSOCIATES, LTD.**

18 2200 S. Rancho Dr., Ste 140

19 Las Vegas, Nevada 89102

20 Telephone (702) 822-4444

21 Facsimile (702) 822-4440

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

1

II. ROUTING STATEMENT

1

III. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

2

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

2

V. STATEMENT OF FACTS

2-5

VI. STANDARD OF REVIEW

5-6

VII. ARGUMENT

6-28

A. DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY REVERSED THE
APPEALS OFFICER'S RULING THAT WAS CLEARLY
ERRONEOUS

6-28

1. District Court cited the Appeals Officer's clearly
erroneous reasoning as it applied to the Respondent
being "on the clock" because of the "significant
control" and "distinct benefits" between Employer
and Respondent

6-14

i. Respondent while "on the clock" cannot
refuse a summon back to his station by
his superiors

8-11

ii. Intent of Employer's express orders are
known and those orders exposed
respondent to the "actual street-risk
rule"

11-14

- iii. While “on the clock” the Respondent could Not consume alcohol demonstrating “significant control” over their employee and conferring a “distinct benefit” to the employer of not having drunken police officers 14
2. “Distinguishable” findings by the Appeals Officer between *Tighe* and Respondent are “clearly erroneous” 15-20
- B. IN NEVADA TIGHE IS BINDING PRECEDENT FOR THE “LAW ENFORCEMENT” EXCEPTION, AND NOT HOLDINGS FROM OTHER JURISDICTIONS. ALL NON-NEVADA CASES CITED BY APPELLANTS ARE EITHER DISTINGUISHABLE OR SUPPORT RESPONDENT 20-28
1. *Rogers v. Indus. Com.* is distinguishable from Respondent’s case, and there is a more recent holding from Colorado that supports Respondent’s claim 21-23
2. *State Comp. Ins. Fund v. Workmen’s Comp. App. Bd.*, 29 Cal.App.3d (1973) cited by Appellants is distinguishable from Respondent, and there are two more recent California holdings in further support of Respondent 23-25
3. *Mayor and Alderman of the City of Savannah v. Stevens*, 598 S.E.2d (2004) if adopted would undermine Tighe and is distinguishable from Respondent 25-26
4. *Springfield v. Indus. Comm’n*, 614 N.E.2d 478 (1978) supports Respondent, and *Allenbaugh v. Ill. Workers’ Comp. Comm’n*, 58 N.E.3d 872 (2016) is distinguishable 27-28

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

Page(s)

VIII. CONCLUSION 29-30

ATTORNEY'S CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE 31-32

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 33

///

///

///

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Page(s)

1. *Allenbaugh v. Ill. Workers' Comp. Comm'n*
58 N.E.3d 872 (2016) 27,28
2. *Bob Allyn Masonry v. Murphy*
124 Nev. 279 (2008) 13
3. *Carrillo v. Workers' Comp. App. Bd.*
149 Cal.App.3d 1177 24,25
4. *City Plan Dev., Inc., State, Office of Labor Comm'r*
121 Nev. 419 (2005) 6
5. *Evan v. Southwest Gas Corp*
108 Nev. 1002 (1992) 7,11,30
6. *Elizondo v. Hood Mach. Inc.*
129 Nev. 780 (2013) 6
7. *Law Offices of Barry Levinson, P.C., v. Milko*
124 Nev. 355 (2008) 6
8. *Mayor and Alderman of the City of Savannah v. Stevens*
598 S.E.2d 456 (2004) 25,26
9. *MGM Mirage v. Cotton*
121 Nev. 396 (2005) 7
10. *Mineral County v. Industrial Commission of Colorado*
649 P.2d 728 (1982) 22,23
11. *Original Roofing Company, LLC, v. Chief Administrative
Officer of Occupational Safety and Health Administration*
135 Nev. Ad. Op. 18 (June 6, 2019) 6
12. *Petrocelli v. Workmen's Comp. App. Bd.*
45 Cal.App.3d 635 (1975) 24

Cases (cont.)

Page(s)

13. *Rogers v. Indus. Com.*
574 P.2d 116 (1978) 21,22
14. *Springfield v. Indus. Comm'n*
614 N.E.2d 478 (1993) 27
15. *State Comp. Ins. Fund v. Workmen's Comp. App. Bd.*
29 Cal.App.3d (1973) 23
16. *Tighe v. Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Dept.*
110 Nev. 632 (1994) 1,7,9,15,16,17,18,19,20,21,26,30

Statutes, Regulations, and Court Rules

1. NRS 233B.135 6,11
2. NRS 233B.150 1
3. NRS 616C.150 7
4. NRAP 3 1
5. NRAP 4 1
6. NRAP 17 1
7. NRAP 26.1 i
8. NRAP 28 31
9. NRAP 32 31
10. NRCP 5(b) 33

Treatises and secondary sources

- 1 Arthur Larson, *Larson's Workmen's Compensation Law*
§ 16.17 (1993) 15,19

1 **I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

2
3 The Appellant's Notice of Appeal was filed on May 30, 2019, 30 days after
4 the April 30, 2019 Notice of Entry of Order. The Appeal is based upon a final
5 order from the District Court. Under NRS 233B.150, NRAP 3 and 4, the Nevada
6 Supreme Court has jurisdiction.
7

8 **II. ROUTING STATEMENT**

9
10 The matter is not presumptively retained by the Supreme Court but rather
11 the Court of Appeals pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(9)-(10) as the underlying Petition
12 for Judicial Review from the District Court was based upon an appeal from the
13 Nevada Department of Administration, and does not present any questions of
14 apparent first impression involving the Nevada Constitution. However, Respondent
15 agrees with Appellants that under NRAP 17(a)(12), the Nevada Supreme Court is
16 justified in retaining jurisdiction over this case as it directly impacts the application
17 a Supreme Court case, namely *Tighe v. Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Dept.*, 110
18 Nev. 632 (1994). Therefore, this issue is of statewide public importance. Thus, the
19 Nevada Supreme Court should retain the case for adjudication.
20
21
22
23

24 ///

25 ///

26 ///

1 **III. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

2
3 May the District Court overrule an Appeals Officer's Decision that was
4 affected "...by error of law and clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative
5 and substantial evidence on the whole record"?
6

7 **IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

8
9 The Appellants, Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department ("Employer")
10 and their industrial administrator CCMSI, collectively "Appellants", seek to
11 reverse the District Court below that reversed the Appeals Officer's Decision
12 denying industrial benefits to Respondent David Figueroa, a Las Vegas
13 Metropolitan Police officer who was severely injured during the course and scope
14 of his employment ("Respondent").
15
16

17 The Appellants contend the Appeals Officer's ruling was supported by
18 "substantial evidence". The Respondent agrees with the District Court that the
19 Appeals Officer made a clearly erroneous decision in view of the reliable,
20 probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record and must be overturned.
21
22

23 **V. STATEMENT OF FACTS**

24
25 David Figueroa (hereinafter "Respondent") is employed as a motorcycle
26 traffic police officer with the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department since,
27 November 5, 2006. See Appx. Vol. 1, p. 8, lines 10-19.
28

1 On March 7, 2015 Respondent was working at the Bolden Area Command,
2 re-acclimation program. See Appx. Vol. 1, p. 10, lines 4-6. Prior to that date,
3 Respondent had a previously accepted industrial injury. See Appx. Vol. 1, p. 10,
4 lines 14-25. While his regular duties prior to the first accident required
5 Respondent to operate a motorcycle on the job; the re-acclimation duties did not.
6 See Appx. Vol. 1, p. 11 lines 11-23. On March 7, 2015, Respondent was scheduled
7 to work from 2:30 pm until 12:30 am. See Appx. Vol. 1, p. 12, lines 1-4.
8
9

10
11 Respondent's Sergeant indicated the Captain had determined that the 12-16
12 week re-acclimation program would not be necessary for Respondent to complete
13 and would return him to his regular duties within the next shift or two; the result
14 being the Respondent would again be operating police motorcycles. See Appx.
15 Vol. 1, p. 13, lines 12-18. On March 7, 2015 Respondent's Sergeant had ordered
16 Respondent to leave early at approximately 11:45 pm, so that Respondent could
17 get "seat time" to practice on his motorcycle to prepare Respondent for his regular
18 duties. See Appx. Vol. 1, p. 24, lines 4-5. The Sergeant further commanded that
19 "[i]f we need you, be close to your phone." See Appx. Vol. 1, p. 39, lines 18-20.
20 Practice riding on a motorcycle colloquially known by motorcycle officers as "seat
21 time". See Appx. Vol. 1, p. 186, lines 8-24. Also, the Respondent's personal
22 motorcycle and the police motorcycle were "very similar" in type. See Appx. Vol.
23 1, p. 24, lines 12-15.
24
25
26
27
28

1 Respondent changed his clothes and left the station on his motorcycle to get
2 more “seat time” and engage in practice riding as instructed by his superior, and
3 was being paid while “on the clock”; Respondent had no ability to refuse a
4 summon back to the station while “on the clock”. See Appx. Vol. 1, p. 14, 1-24.
5 Additionally, Respondent was not permitted by his Employer to drink alcohol
6 while “on the clock”, and was also in possession of his duty weapon, handcuffs,
7 badge, department radio, and was approximately 5-10 minutes away from and
8 about 1.5 to 2 miles distant from the station when he was in an accident at 12:25
9 am due to an at-fault driver. See Appx. Vol. 1, p. 15, lines 1-14, p. 40, lines 1-24,
10 p. 41, lines 1-25.

15 Respondent was transported to UMC, where he was placed in a medically
16 induced coma for 6 days and spent a total of 47 days in hospitals. See Appx. Vol.
17 1, p. 20, lines 1-12. Respondent then received corrective surgeries at UCLA
18 Medical Center. See Appx. Vol. 1, p. 20, lines 13-25. The injuries were so severe
19 Respondent spent nearly 1.5 years off-work to recover. See Appx. Vol. 1, p. 21,
20 lines 9-16.

23 On March 7, 2015, a C-4 was completed. See Appx. Vol. 2, p. 215. On April
24 9, 2015, Respondent’s claim was denied. See Appx. Vol. 2, p. 279-280.
25 Respondent appealed and following a hearing a Decision and Order dated July 25,
26
27
28

1 2018, was filed affirming the TPA's claim denial was issued. See Appx. Vol. 1, p.
2 78-90.

3
4 On August 21, 2018, Respondent sought Petition for Judicial Review
5 regarding the Appeals Officer's Decision and after briefing was scheduled, the
6 District Court issued its Order Reversing the Appeals Officer's Decision on April
7 30, 2019, with Notice of Entry of Order filed on same day. See Appx. Vol. 4, p.
8 665-675.
9

10
11 On May 15, 2019, the Appellants filed a Motion to Alter Judgment, See
12 Appx. Vol. 4, p. 676-715. Prior to the District Court ruling on the Appellant's
13 Motion, the Appellant's filed an appeal to the Nevada Supreme Court on May 30,
14 2019. See Appx. Vol. 4, p. 718-723.
15

16
17 On June 11, 2019, the Appellant's filed their Motion for Stay before this
18 Court, with Respondent filing his Opposition to Motion for Stay on June 17, 2019,
19 and this Court issuing its Order denying on September 26, 2019.
20

21 Following unsuccessful mediation, the briefing was reinstated by this Court
22 and Appellant's filed their Opening Brief on October 30, 2019.
23

24 This Respondent's Answering Brief follows.

25 **VI. STANDARD OF REVIEW**

26

27 The Court's roll in reviewing an administrative agency's decision is
28 identical to that of the District Court—to review the agency's decision for clear

1 error and will overturn the agency’s factual findings only if they are not supported
2 by substantial evidence. See NRS 233B.135(3)(e). See also *Original Roofing*
3 *Company, LLC v. Chief Administrative Officer of Occupational Safety and Health*
4 *Administration*, 135 Nev. Adv. Op. 18 (June 6, 2019) (citing *Elizondo v. Hood*
5 *Mach., Inc.*, 129 Nev. 780, 784, 312 P.3d 479, 482 (2013). An agency’s fact-based
6 conclusions of law are entitled to deference when supported by substantial
7 evidence; however, purely legal questions are reviewed de novo. *Law Offices of*
8 *Barry Levinson, P.C. v. Milko*, 124 Nev. 355, 362, 184 P.3d 378, 383-84 (2008).
9 “Substantial evidence is that which a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to
10 support a conclusion.” *City Plan Dev., Inc. v. State, Office of Labor Comm’r*, 121
11 Nev. 419, 426, 117 P.3d 182, 187 (2005).

12 **VII. ARGUMENT**

13 **A. DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY REVERSED THE APPEALS** 14 **OFFICER’S RULING THAT WAS CLEARLY ERRONEOUS**

15 As indicated the standard of review adopted by the District Court was under
16 NRS 233B.135(3)(e), is whether the underlying Appeals Officer’s decision was
17 “clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative and substantial evidence on the
18 whole record”. Here, the District Court found that the Appeals Officer’s decision
19 violated NRS 233B.135(3)(e) in numerous ways.

20 **1. District Court cited the Appeals Officer’s clearly erroneous** 21 **reasoning as it applied to the Respondent being “on the clock”**

1 **because of the “significant control” and “distinct benefits”**
2 **between Employer and Employee**

3 The general rule is that “going and coming” to and from one’s place of
4 employment is not compensable under the Nevada Industrial Insurance Act
5 because such travel does not arise out of the course and scope of employment. See
6 *MGM Mirage v. Cotton*, 121 Nev. 396 (2005). See also NRS 616C.150. As the
7 District Court noted there are three exceptions to the “going and coming” rule that
8 are applicable here 1) travel to and from work that confers a “distinct benefit” upon
9 the employer; 2) where the employer exercises “significant control” over the
10 employee; and 3) the “law enforcement” exception as police officers are generally
11 charged with a duty of law enforcement while traveling on public thoroughfares.
12 See Appx. Vol. 4, p. 659, lines 7-15. See also, *Evans v. Southwest Gast Corp.*, 108
13 Nev. 1002, 1008 (1992) and *Tighe v. Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Dept.*, 110
14 Nev 632, 635-636 (1994).
15

16 Here the District Court found the Appeals Officer’s analysis of those three
17 exceptions were “clearly erroneous”. See Appx. Vol. 4, p. 659, lines 16-18. The
18 District Court noted that the Appeals Officer only “briefly mentioned” that the
19 Respondent was still “on the clock” at the time of his accident. See Appx. Vol. 4,
20 p. 659, footnote 1.
21

22 Specifically, the Appeals Officer and Appellants wrongfully attempt to
23 characterize Respondent’s legal position (and therefore that of the District Court)
24
25
26
27
28

1 as somehow advancing the idea that Respondent being “on the clock” is, in and of
2 itself, demonstrative evidence of industrial compensability; at no time has the
3 Respondent ever advanced that argument, nor did the District Court apply it in
4 such a manner.
5

6 Rather, the importance of the Respondent being “on the clock” evidences
7 those issues which are relevant; i.e. “distinct benefits” conferred to the Employer
8 all while the Employer exerted “significant control” over its employee interacting
9 with the “law enforcement” exception of the “going and coming” rule. Contrary to
10 Appellants’ contention that being “on the clock” means essentially nothing here, is
11 that being “on the clock” specifically with regard to police officers, the “significant
12 control” over the Respondent and the “distinct benefits” to the Employer remain in
13 place because of the “unique nature of law enforcement” and that is dissimilar to
14 most non-police jobs.
15

16 It is a subtle nuance yet legally an important distinction that eluded the
17 Appeals Officer.
18

19
20
21
22 **i. Respondent while “on the clock” cannot refuse a**
23 **summon back to his station by his superiors**

24 First, when Respondent is “on the clock” he cannot refuse a summon back to
25 the station, by his superiors, and if he did so, he would subject himself to
26 discipline. See Appx. Vol. 1, p. 14, 2-8, p. 65, lines 23-24, and p. 66, lines 1-6.
27 Accordingly, Respondent remained under the “significant control” of the Employer
28

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